IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 12 1998

NATHAN JOE RAMIREZ,

RAMIREZ,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY

STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0234176

Case No. 89,377

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 15, 1995, a Pasco County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Johnathan P. Grimshaw¹ and Appellant, Nathan J. Ramirez, with premeditated murder in the shooting death of Mildred Boroski, which allegedly occurred between March 10 and 11, 1995. (Vol. I, pp. 9-10) Appellant had just turned 17 years old at the time of the offense. (Vol. I, p. 1; Vol. VII, p. 1047)

The pretrial motions Appellant filed, through counsel, included a motion to suppress statements he made to sheriff's deputies during an interview that was videotaped without Appellant's knowledge. This motion was heard by the Honorable Burton Easton on April 1, 1996, and denied. (Vol. I, pp. 153-155; Vol. X, pp. 1416-1551)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial on April 22-26, 1996, with the Honorable Craig C. Villanti presiding. (Vol. XI, p. 1-Vol. XV, p. 862) The jury found Appellant guilty as charged in the indictment. (Vol. II, p. 291; Vol. XV, p. 857)

Penalty phase was conducted on April 29-30, 1996. (Vol. VII, p. 935-Vol. VIII, p. 1335) After receiving additional evidence from the State and the defense, Appellant's jury recommended by a vote of eleven to one that he be sentenced to die in Florida's electric chair. (Vol. II, p. 325; Vol. VIII, p. 1328)

¹ Grimshaw's first name is spelled at least two different ways in the record on appeal. Appellant will employ the spelling used in the indictment.

² For unknown reasons, the motion to suppress does not appear in the record, but Appellant has attached a copy of the motion as an appenion to this brief.

A sentencing hearing was held before Judge Villanti on November 4, 1996, at which the court heard additional testimony from a defense witness, as well as arguments from counsel for the State and for the defense. (Vol. IX, pp. 1347-1415)

Sentence was actually imposed on November 8, 1996. (Vol. VI, pp. 921-934) In sentencing Appellant to death, the court found the following aggravating circumstances to exist: (1) the capital felony was committed while Appellant was engaged in the commission of the crimes of kidnapping and/or sexual battery; (2) the capital felony was committed while Appellant was engaged in, or in an attempt to commit, a robbery and/or burglary for the purpose of financial gain; (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification; (4) the homicide was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious and cruel manner; (5) the homicide was committed for the dominant purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. (Vol. VI, pp. 733-735, 923-926) With regard to statutory mitigating circumstances, the court found Appellant's age of 17 at the time of the offense to be mitigating, but gave it "little weight." (Vol. VI, pp. 735, 926-927) The court also found that Appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity, but refused to give it "significant weight" because Appellant was prosecuted for an auto burglary as a juvenile. (Vol. VI, pp. 735, 927) Also found by the court, but given "little weight," were the factors that Appellant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional distress, Appellant was under extreme duress

substantial domination of another person (Johnathan Grimshaw), and that Appellant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. (Vol. VI, pp. 736-737, 927-930) As for nonstatutory mitigation, the court found that Appellant's cooperation with law enforcement, conduct while incarcerated and during trial, demeanor and comments as they pertained to the crime, and conduct prior to the crime, were mitigating circumstances, but gave them little weight. (Vol. VI, pp. 738, 930-931) The court also discussed, in the context of nonstatutory mitigation, Appellant's age, personality, character and talents, family background and family problems, and prior record, but ascertained that these factors had all been considered as they applied to statutory mitigating factors. (Vol. VI, pp. 738, 931-932)

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal to this Court on November 14, 1996. (Vol. VI, p. 915)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Suppression hearing

Two witnesses testified at the suppression hearing held before Judge Burton Easton on April 1, 1996: Detectives Clifford Blum and Jeffery Bousquet of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office. (Vol. X, pp. 1416-1542) Blum testified that he was sent by the Crimes Against Persons Unit Supervisor, Mike Schreck, on May 3, 1995 to pick up a ring, a set of handcuffs, and a firearm from the Boroski residence that Johnathan Grimshaw had given to Appellant. (Vol. X, pp 1419-1420) Blum went to Appellant's residence at 3:00 in the afternoon and knocked on the door. (Vol X, p. 1420) Appellant came to the door, and Blum told him who he was and what he wanted. (Vol. X, p. 1420) Appellant at first denied having the articles, but after Blum informed him that Blum knew that Appellant and Grimshaw had talked about these articles on the telephone, Appellant said that he had lost one ring, the second ring was in his bedroom, he had given the handcuffs to his girlfriend, and given the gun to a friend. (Vol. X, p. 1421) Blum asked Appellant for the ring, and he retrieved it from his room. (Vol. X, p. 1421) Appellant agreed to take Blum to where the other articles were. (Vol. X, p. 1421) They went to Checkers, where Appellant's girlfriend worked, and she accompanied them to her home, and got the handcuffs. (Vol. X, p. 1421) From there, they went to "Rodney's" house, and Rodney gave Blum a gun. (Vol. X, p. 1421) Appellant thereafter agreed to go with Blum to the sheriff's office and speak with Detective Bousquet. (Vol. X, pp. 1421-1422) Blum drove him there in his

police car. (Vol. X, p. 1541) Blum had no intentions of making an arrest. (Vol. X, p. 1422) Appellant was not a suspect when Blum went to see him; the detective was merely seeking information. (Vol. X, pp. 1425-1426)

Detective Bousquet had three or four contacts with Johnathan Grimshaw prior to May 3, 1995. (Vol. X, p. 1427) Grimshaw told Bousquet that he had no involvement in this case. (Vol. X, p. 1427) On May 3, Grimshaw gave Bousquet four stories. (Vol. X, pp. 1426-He said that Appellant was the one who killed Boroski, but Bousquet did not believe him at the time. (Vol. X, p. 1427) Detective Blum was directed to go to Appellant's house to see if he had any property [from Boroski's residence]. (Vol. X, p. 1428) was between 3:00 and 4:00 when Bousquet came into contact with Appellant at the sheriff's office. (Vol. X, p. 1428) His intention was not to arrest Appellant, but to "[s]peak to him and see what knowledge he had." (Vol. X, p. 1429) Grimshaw had already been arrested, and it was Bousquet's intent to build a stronger case against him. (Vol. X, p. 1429) When Bousquet first came into contact with Appellant, he was not a suspect, but became one "[w]hen he started going into the fact he was involved with the homicide." (Vol. X, p. 1433) At that point, he was read his Miranda warnings. (Vol. X, pp. 1433-1434) According to Bousquet, Appellant was not in custody when his rights were initially read to him; he was free to leave at any time. (Vol. X, pp. 1526-1527)

A portion of the videotape of the interview between Appellant and Detective Bousquet was played at the suppression hearing. (Vol.

X, pp. 1435-1513) It showed that Appellant's Miranda rights were given for the first time after he began talking about how he and Grimshaw entered the residence. (Vol. X, pp. 1439-1440) Detective Robert Jones suggested that they should let Appellant know about his rights, and said he did not think that was going to change Appellant's desire to cooperate with them, Appellant asked if he was "like being placed under arrest?" (Vol. X, pp. 1439-1440, 1442) Bousquet responded, "No, no. I'm just reading your rights at this time. Okay?" (Vol. X, pp. 1439-1440) After Bousquet read Appellant his rights, and Appellant indicated that he understood them, Bousquet asked, "Having these rights in mind, do you wish to speak to me now about the case?" (Vol. X, p. 1444) Appellant responded, "I guess that's what I'm here for." (Vol. X, p. 1444) He then went on to respond to Bousquet's questions and to detail various aspects of the offenses involved herein. (Vol. X, pp. 1444-1513) At one point, well into the interview, Bousquet had Appellant execute a written waiver of rights form. (Vol. X, pp. 1505-1506)

Bousquet acknowledged sitting in close proximity to Appellant during the interview, with Appellant's right thigh between the detective's knees. (Vol. X, p. 1526) He also acknowledged (and the videotape reflects) that he "patted" the inside of Appellant's thigh several times and placed his hand on Appellant's thigh several times during the interview. (Vol. X, pp. 1536-1540)

At the conclusion of the interview, Appellant was arrested for first degree murder. (Vol. X, p. 1521) His father came to the police station. (Vol. X, p. 1521)

Trial

Guilt Phase--State's Case

Mildred Boroski lived alone in Veterans Village with her cat and her little gray poodle named Chippy, who slept at the end of her bed. (Vol. XII, pp. 300-301, 308, 311-312; Vol. XV, p. 703) She had a .38 caliber service revolver, which had belonged to her late husband, who had been a police chief in Dillonvale, Ohio, as well as his handcuffs. (Vol. XII, pp. 297, 307-308; Vol. XV, pp. 703-704)

On Friday, March 10, 1995, Boroski and a group of her friends went to Leverock's to celebrate her seventy-first birthday. (Vol. XII, pp. 306, 309) They had dinner, and left a few minutes after six. (Vol XII, p. 309) Boroski then returned home, and most of the ladies joined her there. (Vol XII, pp. 298, 309) Fern Jungemann, one of Boroski's friends who was at Leverock's, tried to call her the next morning between 7:30 and 8:00, but there was no answer. (Vol. XII, pp. 309-310)

On Saturday, March 11, 1995, some children found Boroski's car, a new red Ford Tempo, in a wooded area about 10 blocks from her house, and three or four hundred yards from Appellant's residence. (Vol. XII, pp. 263-264, 269, 296, 307; Vol. XIII, pp. 409, 424) There was no observable damage to the exterior of the

car. (Vol. XII, p. 382) Inside, jammed between the passenger's seat and the door, there was a shark oven mitt. (Vol. XII, pp. 382-384, 404) On the rear deck of the car were two separate wires. (Vol. XII, pp. 384-385)

Approximately 100 to 150 feet southeast of where the car was located, there was a surgical glove. (Vol. XII, pp. 334-336) In some palmetto trees south of where the car was located, there was a knife with a black plastic handle, and a pair of pliers with red plastic handles. (Vol. XII, pp. 336-337, 341, 345) There was a can of pepper spray or Mace approximately eight feet from where the car was located, and an aerosol air freshener can was also found somewhere in the vicinity of where the car was found. (Vol. XII, pp. 339-341, 348, 355-356)

Deputy Dale Hutchinson of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office went to Mildred Boroski's home on March 12 and knocked on the front door, but received no response. (Vol. XII, pp. 269-271) After speaking with a neighbor, Candace Kelley, Hutchinson went around the back of the house, where he noticed that the screen for the door of the screened porch had been cut. (Vol. XII, pp. 271, 298) When he entered the porch, there was a "window that was busted out and in," through which he entered the residence. (Vol. XII, pp. 273-274) Hutchinson found nobody in the house. (Vol. XII, p. 276) Every telephone was either missing or disconnected. (Vol. XII, p. 283) The bedroom had been ransacked. (Vol. XII, pp. 277-278) The sheets were tucked up underneath the bed, and pulling them out revealed fecal matter and what appeared to be blood. (Vol. XII, pp.

277-278) There was also "a little drip of blood" on the wall facing the end of the bed. (Vol. XII, p. 281)³ Hutchinson called for detectives and the crime scene technician because he "had something of a serious nature in the house." (Vol. XII, p. 279)

When Deputy Jeffrey Gray arrived at the residence, he found a strong box under the bed with an empty holster inside. (Vol. XII, pp. 288-289) There was also an empty box of shells under the bed. (Vol. XII, p. 362)

Crime scene technician William Joseph arrived at approximately 8:40 p.m. (Vol. XII, p. 314) Outside the house, on the east side, he observed that the telephone wires had either been cut or ripped from the box. (Vol. XII, p. 314) In the screened room at the rear, there was a table directly under the broken window; it had several panes of broken glass lying on top of it, as well as two thumb screw window locks. (Vol. XII, p. 315) Inside the house, there was a broken strong box or file box that contained assorted papers on a chair in the living room. (Vol. XII, pp. 316, 320-321) kitchen there was a purse with no money in it wedged between the refrigerator and one of the cabinets. (Vol. XII, pp. 316-320) There was a carving knife in a drawer in the kitchen that, like the knife found in the area where Boroski's car was located, had a black plastic handle. (Vol. XII, pp. 338-339, 345) In the bedroom there was a small brown serrated knife on top of a file cabinet. (Vol. XII, pp. 324-326) There was a jar of petroleum jelly on a

³ The blood on the bedclothes and wall was later determined to be of nonhuman origin, and was consistent with dog blood. (Vol. XIV, pp. 651-652)

dresser opposite the bed. (Vol. XII, pp. 327-328) There were indentations on both posts of the headboard, which a telephone wire found on the floor appeared to fit. (Vol. XII, pp. 329-331)⁴ On the vanity in the bathroom were a green towel and a latex rubber surgical glove similar to the glove found in the woods where Boroski's car was located. (Vol. XII, pp. 330-333, 335)

Johnathan Grimshaw, who lived across the street from Mildred Boroski, offered to help Crime Scene Technician Jeffrey Boekeloo and Detective Bousquet find her. (Vol. XII, pp. 293-294; Vol. XIII, p. 400) He led them on a search that lasted a couple of hours during the early morning of March 12, 1995, but the body could not be found. (Vol. XIII, p. 405)

On the night of March 14, 1995, Mildred Boroski's body was found in a field in Veterans Village, about two or three minutes away from her residence, by a teenager named Steven Douglass and his cousin, approximately two miles south of where her car had been found, and in the opposite direction from where law enforcement personnel had been led by Johnathan Grimshaw. (Vol. XII, pp. 370-371; Vol. XIII, pp. 404, 568, 593) Douglass told another cousin about the discovery, and he called the sheriff's office. (Vol. XII, pp. 372)

Sergeant Charles Calhoun and Crime Scene Technician Boekeloo were among those who responded to the scene. (Vol. XII, pp. 376, 381, 385-386) The field was overgrown with high grass and heavy

⁴ This observation was made by Joseph not on March 12, but on March 15, when he returned to the residence. (Vol. XII, p. 331)

brush. (Vol. XII, p. 378) Boroski was lying on her back, with a pillow under her head and another on top of her head. (Vol. XII, pp. 377, 386, 392-393) A pillowcase was covering her head. (Vol. XII, p. 392) She was barefoot and was wearing a white nightgown, which was hiked up above her genital area, and panties, which appeared to have been cut in the crotch area. (Vol. XII, pp. 377, 386-387, 392) Her wrists were bound with wiring that appeared similar to the wire that was found in the back of her car. (Vol. XII, pp. 377, 391, 396-397)

Associate Medical Examiner Marie Hansen examined the body at the scene, where she arrived at approximately 3:00 in the morning. (Vol. XV, pp. 679-682) She subsequently conducted an autopsy, on March 15. (Vol. XV, p. 685)

The panties appeared to have been cut with a knife or scissors. (Vol. XV, pp. 684, 698) The bindings around Boroski's hands were two different types of telephone cord. (Vol. XV, p. 684) She had two bullet holes in her head. (Vol. XV, p. 683) Each would have been lethal. (Vol. XV, p. 689) The shots were fired within minutes of one another, perhaps directly following each other. (Vol. XV, p. 689) Unconsciousness would have been instantaneous, with death occurring within a minute or two. (Vol. XV, p. 689) Boroski had small linear abrasions underneath the thumb and first finger of her left hand which could have been consistent with defensive wounds. (Vol. XV, pp. 690-691) There was some hemorrhage and bruising of the vaginal area, and a contusion to the anal area. (Vol. XV, pp. 692-693) Hansen also found a substance that was gray

metallic in color in the anal area, but she did not know if it was metal. (Vol. XV, pp. 692-693, 696, 699-700) The bruising to the anal and vaginal areas was consistent with a sexual assault, either with a penis or some other hard object, however, Hansen did not find any sperm. (Vol. XV, pp. 696-698)⁵ The injuries to Boroski's anal area would have been painful. (Vol. XV, p. 698)

Crime Scene Technician David Tepedino of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office attended the autopsy, and received the bullets taken from Boroski's head. (Vol. XII, pp. 364-366)

Sometime shortly after Boroski's body was found, Candace Kelley saw Appellant and Grimshaw together at Grimshaw's house. (Vol. XII, p. 299) Kelley remarked that it was a shame someone could do that to a lady. (Vol. XII, p. 300) Appellant responded, "People are sick." (Vol. XII, pp. 302-303)

Christy Gibson, who had been Appellant's girlfriend for about a year when he was in tenth grade, testified that after Mildred Boroski's death, she saw Appellant at school with a dark-handled handgun tucked in his waistband, but she had no idea whether it was real. (Vol. XIV, pp. 656-657, 669-670) Also, some time after Boroski's death, Gibson received a pair of handcuffs when she, Appellant, and Grimshaw were in Grimshaw's living room; she kept

⁵ Testing done by the serology section of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement's Tampa Regional Crime Laboratory on certain items similarly failed to reveal the presence of semen. (Vol. XIV, pp. 649-650, 652)

them under her bed. (Vol. XIV, pp. 658-661)⁶ And Appellant gave her a silver eagle ring to hold while he lifted weights at school; he said he got it from Grimshaw. (Vol. XIV, pp. 662-663) Gibson later gave the ring to a detective. (Vol. XIV, p. 663) Several times, Gibson observed Grimshaw approach Appellant at school and ask to talk with him privately. (Vol. XIV, pp. 666-667) Appellant usually did what Grimshaw wanted to do. (Vol. XIV, pp. 668-669)

In April of 1995, Appellant's stepmother found two handguns in his waterbed, between the frame and the mattress. (Vol. XIV, pp. 638-639) When asked where they came from, Appellant said he was keeping them for a friend, Rodney Bradley. (Vol. XIV, pp. 638-640) Appellant's father and stepmother said they would like his friend to come pick them up, and that is what Rodney Bradley did. (Vol. XIV, pp. 638-639) He received a Colt revolver and a semi-automatic with a clip, both of which were unloaded, and put them in the top of his closet. (Vol. XIV, pp. 617-622) Appellant told Bradley he would be back in about three days to a week to pick them up. (Vol. XIV, pp. 624)

On May 3, 1995, Detective Bousquet of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office arrested Johnathan Grimshaw for Mildred Boroski's murder. (Vol. XIII, pp. 420-421) He interviewed Grimshaw for a little over five hours. (Vol. XIII, p. 569) Grimshaw gave him evidence about possible physical evidence that led Bousquet to Appellant. (Vol. XIII, pp. 425-426) While Grimshaw was at the

⁶ At trial, Gibson testified that she was not sure which of the two boys handed her the handcuffs, but on deposition she said it was Appellant. (Vol. XIV, pp. 658-660)

sheriff's office, he placed a telephone call to Appellant which was recorded. (Vol. XIII, pp. 426-434) During the telephone conversation, there were references to a gun, two rings, and handcuffs. (Vol. XIII, pp. 431-433) Detective Clifford Blum of the sheriff's office went to Appellant's home that same day and obtained from him a lady's ring with three clear stones. (Vol. XIII, pp. 625-626) Appellant accompanied Blum to the home of one of Appellant's friends, Rodney Bradley, where Blum recovered a .22 caliber semi-automatic pistol. (Vol. XIII, pp. 627, 631) Blum also recovered a chrome-colored set of standard handcuffs from Appellant's girl-friend, Christy Gibson. (Vol. XIV, pp. 628-629, 661-662)

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