IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NATHAN JOE RAMIREZ,

Appellant,

vs.

-

CASE NO. 89,377

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ultimately Nathan Ramirez was the one that shot and killed the victim, Mildred Boroski.

Q Who, according to Jonathan Grimshaw, according to his final version, sexually assaulted Mrs. Boroski?

A Yes, sir. He stated that Nathan Ramirez only assisted in it, but that he was the one involved in sexual intercourse as well.

Q And who, according to Grimshaw, shot and killed Mrs. Boroski?

A Jonathan Grimshaw stated Nathan Ramirez shot and killed Mildred Boroski.

Q Okay. And pointing the fingers at each other as to who sexually assaulted her?

A Yes, sir. Both pointing at each other as to sexual assault.

Q But the two living people that emerged from that house both agree on one thing --

A Yes, sir. That Nathan Ramirez --

Q -- that Nathan Ramirez was the one that fired the two rounds that killed Mrs. Boroski?

A Correct.

MR. ATTRIDGE: I have no further questions.

(VOL XIV, TR 610-611)

Although the state maintains that the foregoing clearly establishes that the defense opened the door to this line of questioning and that it was proper rebuttal and/or clarification of defense counsel's questioning, it should be noted at the outset that this claim has not been adequately preserved for appeal. As review of the foregoing shows the only objection made to the state's inquiry of Detective Bousquet concerning Grimshaw's statements was one hearsay objection which was sustained and one hearsay objection which was overruled based on the state's argument

that it "goes to the matter brought up." (VOL XIII, T 578) Defense counsel acquiesced in that ruling and did not argue, as he does here, that it was a <u>Bruton Cruz</u> violation.

In Lucas v. State, 376 So. 2d 1149, 1151-52 (Fla. 1979), this Court made it clear that "this court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law." Thus, defense counsel's bare bones objection based on hearsay without any supporting authority or reference to the issue now raised is not sufficient to preserve this claim based on a confrontation/interlocking confession basis. Lucas v. State, 376 So. 2d 1149, 1151-52 (Fla. 1979). Furthermore, even if the initial objection was sufficient, counsel waived the claim by not renewing the objection when the state subsequently inquired as to Grimshaw's statements. Gonzalez v. State, 624 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (failure to object at the numerous times during trial that this evidence was received waives claim for review.) See, also, <u>Hazen v. State</u>, 700 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 1997) (challenge to admission of reverse identification barred because not renewed when witness testified); Feller v. State, 637 So. 2d (Fla. 1994) (failure to renew his confrontation clause 911 objection when testimony was offered at trial bars review.)

Assuming, arguendo, that this claim was properly preserved for appeal, it is, nevertheless without merit. After Ramirez's

cross-examination of Detective Bousquet, the state as the party who called the witness may properly conduct a redirect examination in order to rebut or explain matters elicited during the cross-examination. The redirect examination includes all matters discussed during the cross-examination. Where, as here, the cross-examination "opens the door" to the admission of certain testimony, it is admissible during the redirect examination if it tends to qualify, limit or explain testimony elicited on cross-examination. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 1995). It is also generally held that the scope of redirect examination rests largely in the discretion of the trial court. Tompkins v. State, 502 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 1033, 107 S.Ct. 3277, 97 L.Ed.2d 781 (1987). Although Detective Bousquet's testimony standing alone and taken out of context could be considered error, a review of the record shows that the statements elicited by the state were to explain and clarify the testimony elicited by the defense during cross-examination. This is a proper purpose for redirect examination. Jones v. State, 440 So. 2d 570, 576 (Fla. 1983); Huff v. State, 495 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1986); Dragovich v. State, 492 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 1986); Larzelere v. State, 676 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1996).

The rule of completeness is codified as section 90.108, Florida Statutes (1987), and applies to writings and recorded statements. "Although the language of section 90.108 does not

cover testimony regarding part of a conversation, a similar consideration of the potential for unfairness may require the admission of the remainder of a conversation to the extent necessary to remove any potential for prejudice that may result from the original evidence being taken out of context." Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence Sec. 108.1 at 32 (1992); Johnson v. State, 608 So. 2d 4, 9-10 (Fla. 1992). The trial court's determination that the defense had opened the door to this line of questioning was within his discretion and appellant has failed to show an abuse of that discretion.

Furthermore, in the instant case, any possible error regarding the admission of Grimshaw's statements is harmless.⁴ Norton v. <u>State</u>, 1997 WL 792794 (Fla. 1997) This Court recently did an exhaustive analysis of the introduction of confessions of codefendants in a joint trial in <u>Franqui v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 1312 (Fla. 1997). The codefendant's confessions in <u>Franqui</u> were not redacted, were admitted as substantive evidence against the defendant and no limiting instruction was given. In <u>Franqui</u> the admission was predicated on the theory that no Confrontation Clause violation existed because the confessions of the defendant and codefendant sufficiently interlocked to render the codefendant's

⁴ Pursuant to Section 924.051, Florida Statutes (1996), the appellant has the burden of proving that any error was prejudicial. Given the strength of the state's evidence, including appellant's confession to law enforcement that he shot Mrs. Boroski, he cannot meet this burden.

confession reliable. <u>Id</u>. Based upon <u>Idaho v. Wright</u>, 497 U.S. 805, 110 S.Ct. 3139, 111 L.Ed.2d 638 (1990), and <u>Cruz v. New York</u>, 481 U.S. 186, 107 S.Ct. 1714, 95 L.Ed.2d 162 (1987), this Court determined that reliance on interlocking facts in determining the confessions' admissibility was error. Nevertheless, this Court concluded that <u>Cruz</u> and <u>Wright</u> authorized the application of the harmless error doctrine. See, also, <u>Smith v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 1997). This Court's harmless error analysis included the following:

> Thus, while that portion of San Martin's confession which implicated Franqui should not have been introduced into evidence, the fact that it mirrors Franqui's confession in so many respects strongly indicates that the error was harmless. Of course, Franqui's confession is powerful evidence of his guilt. Further, Franqui's confession is corroborated by other evidence in the case, including the manner in which the crime was committed. Further, as noted previously, the evidence relating to the police having recovered the guns at San Martin's direction was properly admitted. The State's forensic expert testified that the bullet that killed Lopez was fired from a revolver. One of the guns the police recovered was a revolver, and Franqui confessed that he was the only one of the codefendants armed with that kind of gun. The other two guns recovered by the police and all of the guns carried by the victims were inconsistent with the fatal bullet. Because the revolver was rusty, the expert could not say with certainty that the fatal bullet came from that revolver. However, he did say that the bullet which killed Lopez came from the same gun as another bullet which was lodged in the passenger mirror of the grey Suburban, and the trajectory of a hole in the passenger window lined up with that bullet, thereby

indicating that it was fired from within the vehicle. Franqui was the only occupant of the grey Suburban, and he admitted firing a .357 revolver toward Lopez's vehicle.

The jury specifically found Franqui guilty of first-degree murder either by premeditated design or in the course of a felony, and evidence supporting both theories is extensive. At the very least, we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the Confrontation Clause violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as it relates to Franqui's conviction of first-degree felony murder. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986).

Franqui v. State, 699 So. 2d 1312, 1321 (Fla. 1997) In the instant case, Ramirez admitted entering the fenced backyard, cutting the telephone wires, burglarizing the house, arming himself with a gun, a knife and handcuffs, killing the barking dog, tying the victim up, getting the Vaseline (presumably used in the sexual assault) and driving the victim to an overgrown field where he killed her by shooting her twice in the head. (VOL XIII, T 446-556) The physical evidence was consistent with Ramirez's confession. The only real difference between the two confessions was in who thought of the idea and who committed the sexual assault. Both agreed, however, that Ramirez shot and killed the victim. Based on the foregoing the state maintains that error in allowing this line of questioning in the guilt phase was harmless.

In the penalty phase, Detective Bousquet was asked by the state about Grimshaw's statement. Defense counsel again objected

based on hearsay. (VOL VII, T 955). The court then called for a ten minute recess to allow both sides to present him with case law on the issue. (VOL VII, T 958) When the court reconvened, the prosecutor argued the rule of completeness. Defense counsel responded that the state's cases concerned introducing the complete statement of the defendant, whereas in the instant case they were seeking to introduce the statements of a codefendant. He maintained that they would not have the ability to cross-examine. The court found it was admissible to rebut the defense claim of substantial domination of another person. (VOL VII, T 960) Although, the defense had never asserted a <u>Bruton</u> claim, the state brought the issue to the court's attention:

> MR. HALKITIS: We would also argue, and I think this needs to be argued for record purposes, the hearsay would not be a viable objection as the Court indicated, but a Bruton problem might be. They have turned it into a Bruton problem by asking this officer what Grimshaw said in the cross-examination of this officer.

> I think it's obvious that what they're trying to do with this Officer is bring out a portion that is portraying Mr. Grimshaw as being the leader and Mr. Ramirez as being the follower, which they did in the guilt phase. We feel that any objection as to being a Bruton problem would not be a valid objection, because they went into it in their case.

> > (VOL VII, TR 960-961)

Despite the court's recessing to allow time for research, defense counsel did not present any argument or case law to the contrary. He did, however, ask for a standing objection to the line of questioning. (VOL VII, T 961) The state then was allowed to inquire of Detective Bousquet concerning Grimshaw's statements. (VOL VII, T 962-67) Defense counsel cross-examined the detective concerning the inconsistencies in Grimshaw's and Ramirez's statements. (VOL VII, T 967-79)

Again, the state maintains that this claim has not been adequately preserved. Although defense counsel objected based on hearsay and his ability to cross-examine, he did not present the argument now being made to this Court. The trial judge took a recess to allow counsel to find and present contrary case law to As this Court stated in Lucas v. State, 376 So. 2d 1149, him. 1151-52 (Fla. 1979), "this court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial judge would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary to his understanding of the law." Thus, defense counsel's bare bones objection based on hearsay without any supporting authority or reference to the issue now raised is not sufficient to preserve this claim based on a confrontation/interlocking confession basis. Lucas v. State, 376 So. 2d 1149, 1151-52 (Fla. 1979).

Moreover, while the state recognizes that this type of statement is normally not admissible in the penalty phase, this Court has allowed such statements when they are admitted under an exception to the hearsay rule. In <u>Damren v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 709, 713-14 (Fla. 1997), this Court held that a deceased accomplice's

statements were admissible because they fell within the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule and because the witnesses to the statement were available for cross-examination. Specifically, this Court stated:

> Damren claims that the court erred in allowing Wendy Hedley, Tessa Mosley, and Joanne Waldrup to testify in the penalty phase as to what Chittam said about the murder when he returned to Hedley's trailer immediately following the killing. We disagree.

> The State argued the following in its proffer of Chittam's statements to the trial court: 1) Hearsay is admissible in the penalty phase; 2) Damren was accorded a fair opportunity to rebut Chittam's statements because Hedley, Mosley, and Waldrup were available for cross-examination; 3) Chittam's were corroborated statements by other witnesses who also were available for cross-examination; and 4) Chittam himself was unavailable for cross-examination only because Damren, in order to silence him, had beaten him to death with a hatchet shortly after he The State also argued made the statements. that the statements were admissible in any event as excited utterances.

> Our review of the record shows no abuse of discretion in admitting Chittam's Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d statements. See 520, 523 (Fla.1984). We addressed a similar deceased-declarant scenario in Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377 (Fla.1994), wherein the out-of-court statements of the murder victim (describing a prior attack and threat by the defendant) were admitted in the penalty phase the in-court testimony of a police via officer. found it sufficient under We 921.141(1), Florida section Statutes (Supp.1992), that "Spencer was ... given an opportunity to cross-examine the officer." Id. at 383-84. Damren was accorded the same

opportunity. See also Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla.1992).

Further, Chittam's statements fall within the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. The statements were made shortly after the murder of Miller; Chittam was in a highly agitated state over the burglary gone awry when he made the statements; and he was in dire fear for his own life because of the killing he had just witnessed. As noted above, Chittam was killed within hours of making the statements. We find no error.

We find the remainder of Damren's claims to be without merit or any error to be harmless. We affirm the convictions and sentences, including the death sentence.

Damren v. State, 696 So. 2d 709, 713-14 (Fla. 1997) The statements in the instant case, are admissible under the rule of completeness, they were relevant to rebut Ramirez's claim of substantial domination and Detective Bousquet was available for cross-examination.

Furthermore, the admission of the statement was harmless. Ramirez' own statement established that he entered the fenced backyard, cut the telephone wires, burglarized the house, armed himself with a gun, a knife and handcuffs, killed the barking dog, tied the victim up, got the Vaseline (presumably used in the sexual assault) and drove the victim to an overgrown field where **he killed her by shooting her twice in the head**. (VOL XIII, T 446-556) The physical evidence was consistent with Ramirez' confession. The only real difference between the two confessions was in who thought

of the idea and who committed the sexual assault. Both agreed, however, that Ramirez shot and killed the victim.

Additionally, the trial court found five aggravating circumstances: 1)during the course of a kidnapping and/or sexual battery, 2) during the course of a robbery and/or burglary for financial gain, 3) cold, calculated and premeditated, 4) heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and 5) avoid arrest. (VOL VI, R 732-738) Whereas, the trial court gave little weight to the statutory and non-statutory mitigation evidence proffered. (VOL VI, R 732-738) Further, to the extent that the evidence was offered to rebut Ramirez' claim of substantial domination, the trial court found the existence of the statutory mitigating factor. (VOL VI, R 732-738)

Based on the foregoing the state maintains that error in allowing this line of questioning in the penalty phase was harmless. <u>Franqui v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 1312, 1321 (Fla. 1997).

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING TO THE JURY AND FINDING THE CCP AGGRAVATOR AND WHETHER THERE IS AN INCONSISTENCY IN FINDING BOTH CCP AND THE AVOID ARREST AGGRAVATOR.

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